RECEIVED

Apr 25 2023

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**Appeal from Charleston County
On Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Opinion No. 5950 (S.C. Ct.App., Nov. 9, 2022)**

Appellate Case No: 2023-000131

THE STATE,

Petitioner,

vs.

DEVIN JAMEL JOHNSON,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

**ALAN WILSON
Attorney General**

**DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General**

**MELODY J. BROWN
Sr. Assistant Deputy Attorney General**

**WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General**

**P. O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305**

**SCARLETT WILSON

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Should this Court grant certiorari to correct the Court of Appeals' erroneous reversal of Respondent Johnson's murder conviction based on the trial judge's accomplice liability instruction, since the evidence presented at trial supported the instruction because the evidence was in conflict as to whether Johnson or his accomplice shot the victim?

- II. Whether this Court should grant certiorari to overrule *dicta* in *Barber* that an accomplice liability instruction is "an alternative theory of liability" that should only be given "when the evidence is equivocal on some integral fact and the jury has been presented with evidence upon which it could rely to find the existence or nonexistence of that fact," because this Court's earlier precedent makes unerring clear that an accomplice liability instruction is not and cannot legally be an alternative theory of liability under South Carolina law?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent, Devin Jamel Johnson, # 359432 (Johnson) is confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections (SCDC) as the result of his second Charleston County conviction and sentence for murdering Akeem Smalls. The Charleston County Grand Jury originally indicted him on September 12, 2011, for murder (2011-GS-10-5207) and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime (2011-GS-10-5208). **R. 608-11**. Following a jury trial before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., on March 31 - April 3, 2014, he was convicted of both charges and sentenced by Judge Dennis. He timely served and filed a notice of appeal. The Court of Appeals reversed his convictions on November 16, 2016. *State v. Johnson*, 418 S.C. 587, 795 S.E.2d 171 (Ct.App. 2016), *cert. denied* (Nov. 2, 2017). The State's timely Petition for Rehearing and Suggestion for Rehearing En Banc was denied on January 20, 2017. This Court denied the State's Petition for Certiorari on November 2, 2017. The Remittitur was sent to the Charleston County Clerk of Court on November 7, 2017.

On December 10, 2018, the Charleston County Grand Jury again indicted Johnson for murder (2018-GS-10-6264, **R. 612-13**) and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. He received his third jury trial before Judge Dennis on April 1-4, 2019.¹ John J. Kozelski, III, and Tola Familoni, of the Ninth Circuit Public Defender's Office, represented him at trial. Assistant Ninth Circuit Solicitors Stephanie B. Linder and Price Sigal prosecuted the case. The jury convicted him of murder but acquitted him of the weapons charge. **R. 492**. Judge Dennis sentenced him to thirty-six years imprisonment. **R. 493-94; R. 614** (sentencing sheet).

Johnson filed a motion for new trial on April 15, 2018, in which he argued that the trial

¹ Apparently, a retrial occurred between the issuance of the Remittitur on direct appeal and the trial now being appealed. *See R. 501; 506*.

judge erroneously gave an accomplice liability instruction. *R. 599-600*. On May 29, 2019, Judge Dennis held a hearing on the motion. *R. 497-516*. He denied the motion at the conclusion of the hearing. See *R. 514-16*.

Johnson timely served and filed his notice of appeal. Following briefing and arguments by the parties, the Court of Appeals reversed his conviction based on the accomplice liability charge. *State v. Devin Johnson*, Op. No. 5950 (S.C. Ct.App., Nov. 9, 2022) (Howard’s Adv. Sh. No. 40 at 12-29). *App. 1-17*.² The State filed a timely Petition for Rehearing on November 28, 2022. *App. 18-33*. Johnson made a Return to the Petition *App. 34-41*. The Court of Appeals denied rehearing on January 19, 2023. *App. 42-43*.

The State filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari on January 30, 2023, and it filed a Petition to Argue Against Precedent on February 6, 2023. Johnson filed a Return to Petition for Writ of Certiorari on March 1, 2023. Johnson has not opposed the Petition to Argue Against Precedent. This Court filed an Order granting both the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and the Petition to Argue Against Precedent on April 20, 2023. This Brief follows.

² This opinion is published as *State v. Johnson*, 438 S.C. 110, 882 S.E.2d 190 (Ct. App. 2022), cert. granted, April 20, 2023. The State, however, has retained the Appendix citations to the opinion.

Also, the Court of Appeals did not address the other two issues presented by Johnson because the Court reversed his conviction based upon the trial judge’s giving of the accomplice liability instruction. *Id.* at 29 n.13. *App. 17*. However, the trial judge’s rulings on those issues was correct, and Johnson’s arguments lack merit for the reasons set forth on pp. 10-36 of the Final Brief of Respondent. So, this Court should affirm as to those issues, as well.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In June 2011, Johnson lived with Tenika Elmore in Orangeburg, South Carolina. She drove a blue 2008 Toyota Camry. She was gainfully employed in North Charleston, and she commuted to work each day from her Orangeburg residence. Johnson's sister, Sharmaine Johnson, lived in a Charleston apartment complex. The victim, Akeem "Ace" Smalls, was her boyfriend. The victim owed Johnson money. Tenika thought the two men were friendly, but she was unfamiliar with any business relationship between them, and Johnson did not want her to know that he sold "weed." *R. 97-100; 111-12.*

Johnson dropped Tenika off at work in North Charleston on the morning of June 8, 2011. They were in her Camry, which was missing a hubcap. *See State's Exs. 25-28.* After dropping her off at work, he had the car for the remainder of the day. Although Tenika did not always know where he would go when he dropped her off, he often went either to Sharmaine's apartment in Charleston, or to either Walterboro or Summerville. He was late in returning to pick her up on the 8th and he should have been there at 11:00 p.m. However, he did not seem "rattled" or "shaken up" and he did not tell her anything that he had seen. *R. 99-104.*

They first drove to Summerville and picked up Johnson's daughter. After stopping to buy gas, they went to their Orangeburg home. Throughout their trip home, he never mentioned anything that had occurred earlier that night. Tenika learned the next morning that the victim had been killed when she overheard Johnson on the phone. He acted as if this was the first time that he heard about it. Finally, Tenika testified that the expression to "wet someone" meant "to shoot them," although she admitted to other possible interpretations on cross-examination. *R. 104-07; 110-11.*

Robert Holmes testified that he and the victim, Akeem "Ace" Smalls, were close friends

and saw each other frequently. They smoked marijuana daily. They also sold marijuana, which they got from Johnson and whom Holmes met through the victim. The victim had stolen a quarter pound of Johnson's marijuana, which was worth roughly \$1,000.00. About a week before the murder, Holmes had a conversation with Johnson, who was looking for the victim. However, Holmes did not tell him where to find the victim. Holmes corroborated that to "wet somebody up" meant to shoot them. **R. 76-80; 82; 85; 95-96.**

On cross-examination, Holmes explained that Johnson would stash his "high-grade" marijuana at his sister's apartment. The victim would then sell it because Johnson did not know potential buyers in the area, but the victim did. R. 90-91; 94. Holmes admitted telling police that Smalls stole roughly \$500.00 worth of marijuana, that Smalls had given Johnson some money, and that Holmes "thought everything was fine." **R. 91-94.** Obviously, he was dead wrong.

On the night of June 8th, Diangelo Bumcum went to visit friends in Building E of the apartment complex in question. Upon arriving, he saw his close friend, the victim, on the second floor of Building C. The two talked and drank on the porch for several minutes. Eventually, Bumcum left Smalls' apartment and went to visit his friends in Building E. Sometime later, he saw flashlights moving around outside of the apartments and went out to investigate. He saw police officers outside and they informed him that the victim had been shot. **R. 310-13.**

Bumcum was upset. So, he called some of his family members and told them what had happened. When he spoke to his mother, she told him to come home, and he did so. When he learned that police were looking for him in connection with the murder, he voluntarily surrendered, gave a statement, and fully cooperated with the investigation because he was not involved in the murder. **R. 313-15.**

Vanessa Bumcum Morton, Bumcum's mother, testified that she had met the victim

through another relative and that he “was like family.” She corroborated that Bumcum was “quite hurt” when he called and told her about the victim’s death. She told him to come home, and he did so. When they discovered that police were looking for him, she immediately called the police, and they came to her house. Although police obtained a search warrant, she consented to a search and helped them search the house for evidence. She gave them the pants and t-shirt that her son had been wearing on the 9th. *R. 300-06.*³

Charleston City Police Department Officer Matt Jahngen, the first responding officer on June 8th, testified that he received information that a victim of a gunshot wound had “fled the area and could not be located.” Other officers were on the scene. So, he began walking down a nearby street until a woman directed him back to Building D of the complex. *R. 116-20.*

Officer Jahngen saw blood on the ground outside of Building D. He followed a trail of blood until he encountered a man who guided him to a lot near the apartment complex. While there, he heard a cry for help and ultimately found the victim lying on his back, on a table, behind an abandoned house. The victim had obviously been shot.⁴ Although still conscious, he was generally unresponsive to questions. He only said was that he had been shot in the back and could not breathe. Also, he had removed all of his clothing, except for his boxer shorts and socks, and he had a “great deal of blood” on him. *R. 116-17; 120-22; 127. See also R. 165-71.*

The Department’s crime scene investigators responded to the apartment complex on June

³ She explained on cross-examination that her son was originally arrested for the murder because he was the last person to see the victim alive. *R. 307-08.*

⁴ The forensic pathologist who performed the autopsy opined that the victim died from a gunshot wound to his back, which led to “massive bleeding.” The bullet entered the middle of the victim's back, just to the left of center. It then traveled “through one of the ribs on the left side, went through the left lung, and then exited one of the ribs on the left side kind of where the top rib meets your collarbone.” *R. 418-21.*

8th and determined that the shooting had occurred in Building C. In Building C, they found four fired 9 mm. Luger shell casings and blood drops in the entrance of the hallway. In the parking lot outside of the building, they found one of the victim's black Nike sandals under a car door. They ultimately found that the trail of blood drops led from the area of the shooting, to and through other Buildings D and E, and into the parking lot. The drops were also on an air conditioning unit outside of E. They found bullet fragments in Building D. *R. 129-47; 156.*

David Osborne, who was a Sergeant in the Charleston Police Department's violent crimes unit of at the time of the murder,⁵ responded to the crime scene to June 8th. By the end of the evening, police had developed both a person of interest and a vehicle of interest. Sgt. Osborne collected copies of the apartment complex's surveillance video on June 9th. While the murder was not caught on video, the videos from "the office, C and D, in between Building C and D and in between Buildings D and E" provided important evidence against Johnson. (State's Ex. 55). In reviewing the videos, Sgt. Osborne discovered that while the videos had consistent time stamps on them, the time stamp was eight minutes slower than real time. *R. 189-98.*

Using the videos, police determined that the murder occurred at approximately 10:18 p.m. (or 10:10:30 video time) because the victim is seen running out of Building C shortly after that time. Moments later, another camera shows him running across the parking lot between Buildings D and E, which was consistent with the blood trail that had been found. The office camera shows a car that was missing the rear passenger hubcap backing into a parking space at 10:15:55 p.m., which would enable the driver to quickly exit.⁶ Two men are seen getting out of

⁵ He was an Assistant Ninth Circuit Solicitor by the time of the retrial. *R. 189.*

⁶ The car in the video was consistent with Tenika's blue Camry. *R. 204-05.* This car was very readily identifiable because it had a unique license plate, and the missing hubcap. *See State's*

this vehicle and walking toward the far end of Building C, where the murder occurred. Within fifteen or sixteen seconds of the shooting, both men are seen running back to the car, getting into it, and quickly driving out of the complex. The driver was wearing a white tank top and black pants. *R. 198; 200-13; 238-42; 270-72; 280.*⁷

Police spoke with Tenika on June 10th, and she cooperated with them. Police also saw that her Camry “had the same characteristics” of the car in State’s Ex. 55, such as the missing hubcap. *R. 213-14.* With the assistance of the U.S. Marshal’s Task force, Johnson was located and arrested in Orangeburg on June 10th. He was brought back to Charleston the same day and he gave a videotaped statement to Inv. Osborne and Det. Craig Kosarko, which was introduced as State’s Ex. 80. *R. 214-19.*

In the portions of his statement that were played for the jury, he repeatedly denied being in Charleston for several hours. He finally admitted that he had gone to the Charleston apartment complex and claimed that he had gone to get his clothing from his sister. A “friend,” whom he named only as “Creep,” was with him. As they walked to his sister's apartment, Johnson claimed that he saw a dark-skinned black man fire gunshots.⁸ Scared, he and Creep ran back to the car and left. He dropped Creep off and later picked up Tenika at her job. He also admitted that the victim owed him money, but he claimed it had been loaned to pay bills and he did not mention

Exs. 25-28.

⁷ The State also introduced a photograph taken from the video depicting the victim as he fled his attackers (State’s Ex. 62) that was taken at 10:18 p.m. in real time (*R. 207-08*) as well as photographs of the Camry and its driver (Johnson) as State’s Exs. 73-77. *R. 209-11.*

⁸ Det. Kosarko had shown Johnson a photograph of Diangelo Bumcum early in the interview and he claimed not to know Bumcum. Yet, after admitting that he saw the shooting, he told the officers that they should look for “D” (Bumcum). Sgt. Osborne confirmed that police were interested in Bumcum because he was the last person to see the victim alive. *R. 235-37.*

marijuana. *R. 220-21; 223-35; 264; 266-67; 279-80. See also State's Ex. 80.*

In the interview, Johnson also claimed that “Creep” had a tattoo, and that officers could find him by going to a Summerville pool hall where a man known as “Midget” could help them locate him. Sgt. Osborne ultimately tracked down a man in Summerville nicknamed “Creep,” but this man was eliminated as a suspect because he did not have a tattoo and he had a different phone number from the “Creep” in Johnson’s cell phone directory. *R. 234-35; 242-43; 272-74 State’s Ex. 80.*

On June 14th, law enforcement found a Luger 9 mm. bullet in a drawer of a nightstand in Sharmaine’s apartment (*R. 172-74*) with Johnson’s fingerprint on it. Police likewise found eighteen of his prints on Tenika’s Camry. *R. 184-86; 291-95.* On June 14th, Det. Kosarko obtained the surveillance video of the Kangaroo 2 gas station in Summerville because police received information Johnson had been there on the night of the murder. The video (State’s Ex. 76) covers from 11:00 pm. on June 8th until 1:00 a.m. on June 9th, and it depicts Johnson arriving at the station around 12:24 or 12:25 a.m. on the 9th. “He was wearing a white tank top and dark pants,” such as depicted in the apartment complex video, and he could be seen interacting with other people. He did not seem to be in a state of shock. *R. 327-32.*

Johnson had a cell phone when he was arrested. Police seized it and obtained a search warrant for his cell phone records covering a period from June 4 through June 9, 2011. They thereafter received these records. *Rr. 222; 333-37.* His Verizon Wireless cell phone logs (State’s Exhibit 57), published through the testimony of Det. Kosarko, reflected that he made or received ten calls between 9:01 and 10:02 p.m. on the night of the murder, but no calls between 10:03 and 10:34 p.m. He then made or received twelve calls between 10:35 and 11:45 p.m. *R. 367-72; State’s Exhibit 57, R. 525* (cell phone logs). Also, he called the victim four days before the

murder. **R. 382.**

He telephoned a Terry Stevens at 9:04 p.m.; his mother at 9:15, 9:20, and 9:32 p.m.; and his sister, Sharmaine, at 9:30 p.m. (In the call to his sister, he blocked her from seeing his identity). Sharmaine called him at 10:35 p.m. He then called Tenika and, at 11:08 and 11:09 p.m., he called Stevens. Sharmaine called him again at 11:15 p.m. **R. 372-76; State's Exhibit 57, R.525.**

Additionally, there were a series of text messages between Johnson and Stevens on June 8th. At 12:08 p.m., a text message from Johnson's phone to Stevens' phone read, "I gonna need that bread today, at least half." At 12:10 p.m., he texts, "on my ass, brah." At 12:15 p.m., he texts, "When dat go because I'm almost on E and my girl got to get to work rest of the week." Stevens replied, it would be when he got off work. At 12:27 p.m., Johnson says, "Just hit me up. I be around." At 1:30 p.m., he asks, "What time you get off? I'm whipping. We can cool it." At 1:41 p.m., he asks Stevens, "where you be? I'll be around. I'm driving five." **R. 338-41; 356-58; State's Ex. 82, R. ___ - ___ (PowerPoint of text messages).**⁹

At 1:54 p.m., Johnson says, "just hit me up, five." At 4:37 p.m., he sends a text message, "*hey, I go wet dude ass up tonight.*"¹⁰ (Emphasis added). At 4:39 p.m., he asks, "what time you get off?" At 4:44 p.m., he says, "Yeah I take you back to the Chuck," or Charleston. At 8:33

⁹ The actual text messages were marked as State's Ex. 85 for identification **R. 356.**

¹⁰ Sgt. Craig Kosarko testified that he had previously heard the term "wet" somebody means "I'm going to shoot somebody," which "essentially ... means that when you shoot somebody, their clothes get wet from the blood." **R. p. 359.** Sgt. Osborne also testified that the phrase means "to shoot somebody. **R. 247-48.** Of the five definitions for the phrase listed in the Urban Dictionary lists, three refer to killing someone. The "Top Definition" is "[t]o shoot or (sometimes stab) a person several times, usually in an attempt to murder them. Called 'wet up' because there is enough blood to soak their clothes, leaving them 'wet'." See <https://www.urbandictionary.com/define.php?term=wet+up>, last visited July 31, 2020.

p.m., he says, “Just bring your ass down here because I’ll come down there before my 5 word.” At 8:59 p.m., “I need you. When you gonna be home.” Then, at 9:34 p.m., he tells Stevens, “I can’t wait on you. *I gotta handle my biz.*” **R. 356-63** (emphasis added); State’s Ex. 58-59, **R.526-27** (official printout of text messages); State's Ex. 82.¹¹

Johnson and his mother exchanged several text messages on June 9th, the day following the murder. At 7:03 p.m., he tells her, “I want to be all right. Shay got it all twist up right now, but I know you praying.” At 7:43 p.m., she responded, “How you mean you want to? All right. Deal with yourself. Maintain your cool. Let them figure it out. You had nothing to do with it.” A minute later, his mother sends a text directing him to “[c]lear all your texts.” At 10:38 p.m., he sends her a text, saying, “Talk to her, ma, and don't forget to erase your texts.” **R. 364-67**; State’s Ex. 64, **R. 528-30** (official printout of text messages). The Verizon historical cell site location information relating to Johnson's cell phone from 9:01 to 11:40 p.m. on June 8, 2011, reflected that for most of June 8, 2011, his phone used cell sites in the Summerville and North Charleston area. The one anomaly was a call at 10:02 p.m., when the phone used a tower near the interchange of the I-26 and I-526. **R. 398-407; 409-14**; *see also* State’s Ex. 70.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

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