STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Charleston County
R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5950 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Nov. 9, 2022)

THE STATE,

PETITIONER,

V.

DEVIN JAMEL JOHNSON,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-000131

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

BREEN R. STEVENS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

Jun 14 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

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

A witness called by Washington testified that Washington was not involved in the fight and he never had a gun. Id. This witness also testified to seeing Washington run as shots were fired. Id. at 401, 848 S.E.2d at 782. Another witness for Washington testified that Washington was “nowhere near where any of the shots were fired.” Id.

Over objection, the trial judge instructed the jury on the hand of one is the hand of all. Id. at 406, 848 S.E.2d at 785. This Court held the judge erred. Id. This Court explained: “For an accomplice liability instruction to be warranted, the evidence must be ‘equivocal on some integral fact and the jury [must have] been presented with evidence upon on which it could rely to find the existence or nonexistence of that fact.’” Id. at 407, 848 S.E.2d at 786 (quoting Barber v. State, 393 S.C. 232, 236, 712 S.E.2d 436, 439 (2011)) (alterations in original). According to this Court, “there was evidence [Washington] was the shooter,” and “[t]here was also evidence [Washington] was not the shooter.” Id. The question for this Court was “whether there was equivocal evidence the shooter, if not [Washington], was an accomplice of [Washington].” Id. The uncle was the only possible person who could fall into the category of accomplice for Washington. Id. This Court then scoured the record for any evidence the uncle was the shooter. Id.

The deceased’s statements to the bartender that the uncle was going to shoot him were not evidence that the uncle ultimately did shoot him. Id. The testimony of the eyewitnesses that Washington was running from the scene as shots were fired did not create any inference that uncle was the shooter; rather, the only inference from this testimony was that Washington was not the shooter. Id. This Court also rejected the state’s assertion that Washington’s cross-examination of the uncle constituted evidence that the uncle was the shooter because uncle denied the accusations. Id. at 408, 848 S.E.2d at 786.

This Court explained that there was evidence that uncle and Washington acted in concert in following the deceased around the club and giving him dirty looks, there was evidence that Washington and uncle fought with the decedent, and there was evidence that Washington shot the decedent. Id. at 409, 848 S.E.2d at 787. However, in order for the accomplice liability instruction to be proper, there must have been some evidence that uncle shot the decedent. Id. This Court held there was “no evidence” that uncle was armed with a firearm and “no evidence” uncle shot the decedent. Id. Although the jury may not have believed uncle’s denials that he shot the deceased, this Court emphasized that “an alternate theory of liability may not be charged to the jury ‘merely on the theory the jury may believe some of the evidence and disbelieve other evidence.’” Id. (quoting Barber, 393 S.C. at 236, 712 S.E.2d at 438).

Finally, this Court held the accomplice liability instruction prejudiced Washington. Id. at 411, 848 S.E.2d at 788. This Court explained that the evidence against Washington was not overwhelming, particularly, in light of several witnesses testifying Washington was not even armed or in the immediate area when the shooting occurred. Id. This Court explained: “The insertion of the accomplice liability charge into the case invited the jury to speculate whether [uncle] – the only possible accomplice of [Washington] – shot [the decedent], when there was no evidence [uncle] was the shooter.” Id.

In Barber v. State, 393 S.C. 232, 236, 712 S.E.2d 436, 438-439 (2011), this Court examined the propriety of an accomplice liability charge. This Court explained that “an alternate theory of liability may only be charged when the evidence is equivocal on some integral fact and the jury has been presented with evidence upon which it could rely to find the existence or nonexistence of that fact.” Id. Resolving the issue of whether the “hand of one” charge was correct, this Court asked whether there was any evidence that another co-conspirator was the shooter and the defendant was

acting with him when the robbery took place. Id. at 237, 712 S.E.2d at 439 (citing State v. Dickman, 341 S.C. 293, 295-296, 534 S.E.2d 268, 269 (2000)); see also State v. Crowe, 258 S.C. 258, 188 S.E.2d 379 (1972); State v. Ward, 374 S.C. 606, 614, 649 S.E.2d 145, 149 (Ct. App. 2007). The evidence showed the robbers were clothed in black and wrapped shirts around their heads, that the defendant was involved in the planning and execution of the robbery, and that one of the robbers other than the defendant may have been the shooter. Id. at 237, 712 S.E.2d

The Court of Appeals affirmed a grant of post-conviction relief where appellate counsel failed to raise on appeal the trial judge's error in instructing the jury on accomplice liability and mere presence where the evidence failed to support the charge. Wilds v. State, 407 S.C. 432, 435, 756 S.E.2d 387, 388 (Ct. App. 2014).³ On the afternoon of March 29, 1999, Wilds was walking down the street with two companions when they saw Rumph approaching them. Wilds commented to the others that he thought Rumph had some money. Id. Wilds stopped to talk to Rumph while his companions continued walking. Id. at 436, 756 S.E.2d at 388. Wilds unexpectedly pulled out a pistol. Rumph handed over his wallet. Id. at 436, 756 S.E.2d at 389. Wilds ordered his companions to hit Rumph and they complied. Wilds' companions took items from Rumph, including a cigarette lighter and change. Wilds then shot Rumph. Id. After the shooting, Wilds and his companions ran. When they stopped, Wilds gave the companions money from Rumph's wallet and told them to stay quiet. Id. One of the companions told Wilds to get rid of the gun. Id.

Wilds was charged with armed robbery and murder of Rumph. During the deliberations, the jury sent a note asking if the jury found Wilds guilty of murder, would that be a finding that Wilds

³ This Court granted the petition for certiorari on November 20, 2014. After hearing argument on October 7, 2015, the Court dismissed the writ as improvidently granted.

alone pulled the trigger. Id. at 437, 756 S.E.2d at 389. Over Wilds' objection, the judge instructed the jury on accomplice liability, but refused to instruct the jury concerning mere presence. Id.

The Court explained that "no evidence ... indicated anyone other than Wilds was the shooter." Id. at 439, 756 S.E.2d at 390. "The only evidence presented was that Wilds was the shooter, and [his companions] joined in the robbery after Wilds pulled the gun on Rumph." Id. The Court recognized that the jury may have had doubts about the companions' testimony; however, those doubts failed to support a charge on the alternate theory of liability, such as accomplice liability. An alternate theory "may not be charged merely on the theory the jury may believe some of the evidence and disbelieve other evidence." Id. (quoting Barber, 393 S.C. at 236, 712 S.E.2d at 438). The Court found prejudice to Wilds "[b]ecause the instruction was given in response to the jury's question regarding whether a conviction meant it found Wilds actually pulled the trigger, and because the jury returned guilty verdicts after receiving the instruction." Id. at 439, 756 S.E.2d at 390-391.

In the present case, the prosecution presented no evidence to support an instruction to the jury concerning accomplice liability or "the hand of one is the hand of all." The only evidence presented by the state was that Respondent was the shooter. There was no evidence that the passenger in the car was the shooter or that Respondent and the passenger agreed upon some criminal enterprise prior to the shooting. The evidence was not equivocal on some integral fact as would be required in order to instruct the jury on accomplice liability. In fact, the evidence presented by the state was that Respondent and an unknown passenger arrived at the apartment complex, walked in the direction where the shooting occurred, Respondent shot Smalls due to a debt, then Respondent and the passenger ran back to Respondent's car. There was no indication that Respondent and the passenger had planned to engage in any action upon arrival at the apartment or that the shooting was the natural and probable consequence of any agreed upon action.

The state relied upon text messages Respondent sent to Stevens to show Respondent's intent and his efforts to secure an accomplice. Brief of Pet. at 15-16. However, the state omits that the state presented no evidence that Stevens actually agreed to be an accomplice, if that is indeed what the text messages sought, or that Stevens was an accomplice. In fact, according to the state's own evidence, there was no one other than Respondent that could have been the shooter. As the petition for writ of certiorari acknowledges, Respondent's text messages did not even suggest the involvement of a second person as all text messages were in the first person singular – "I." Brief of Pet. at 16. Even the penultimate text message, according to the state's theory, was in the first person singular as Respondent allegedly indicated that he – and he *alone* – could not wait on Stevens as he had to handle his business. Brief of Pet. at 16. The only conclusion that can be drawn from these text messages is that if Respondent did act, then he did so *alone*. The state's suggestion that this evidence supports the trial judge's instruction on accomplice liability is simply incorrect.

Additionally, the state argued the jurors could infer from the surveillance video and still photos that Respondent acted with another person. Brief of Pet. at 16. The video showed two people arrive at the apartment complex where the deceased lived at 10:15 p.m. in a car that was "consistent" with the car owned by Respondent's girlfriend. The individuals got out of the car and walked toward the breezeway where shell casings were later found. Shortly thereafter, the video showed two individuals reenter the car in the same positions they exited. This – a video showing two people arriving in a car together and two people leaving in a car together around the time of the shooting – is the state's best argument that Respondent *and someone else* had joined together to accomplish the illegal purpose of murdering the deceased.

To this end, the state argued in its petition as it did at trial that Respondent “*might* have needed someone to provide him a gun because the murder weapon was never found; he *could* have needed someone to motivate or reassure him, since the defense elicited evidence that he was nonviolent, or he *might* not have wanted to murder ‘his sister’s boyfriend on the doorstep.’” Brief of Pet. at 17 (emphasis added). Far from “beyond a reasonable doubt,” the best the state could argue was that its evidence “might” or “could” show a variety of things that “might” or “could” add up to accomplice liability. Respondent respectfully disagrees that these so-called “very reasonable” inferences could be drawn from the video in light of what the video actually showed. The state is, and was, merely speculating. Of course, in order for a judge to instruct the jury regarding an alternate theory of liability, such as accomplice liability, there must be “any evidence” to support the alternate theory. Nevertheless, the state’s speculation of what the evidence “might” show is a far cry from what the evidence actually showed.

The state faulted the Court of Appeals for focusing too heavily on the state’s theory of the case. Brief of Pet. at 18. However, the Court did not focus solely on the state’s theory of the case; rather, the Court considered the entirety of the evidence presented, which included the lead detective’s testimony that it was a “close call” as to whether he could *even* charge the passenger of the car with murder. The lead detective – who was a member of the prosecutor’s office as a lawyer at the time of Respondent’s trial – was hardly a neutral witness. In other words, the state’s own lead detective, who had every motive to support the state’s request for an accomplice liability instruction, could not be convinced that there was any evidence to charge the passenger with murder.

Demonstrating the leaps in logic the state is willing to make to maintain its conviction, the state claimed the police affirmatively eliminated the ‘Creep’ to whom Respondent referred as a

suspect simply because the police located someone using the nickname “Creep” in Summerville and eliminated that person “as a suspect because he did not have a tattoo and he had a different phone number from the ‘Creep’ in [Respondent]’s cell phone directory.” Brief of Pet. at 18 n.14. If the “Creep” the police found did not have the tattoo described by Respondent or the phone number listed in Respondent’s phone for “Creep,” then all the police could do was eliminate the “Creep” the police found from being the person to whom Respondent referred in his statement to police. There is *absolutely no way* the police could eliminate the ‘Creep’ to whom Respondent referred as a suspect when the “Creep” the police found was not the one described by Respondent.

Perhaps the most telling sentence in the state’s petition for writ of certiorari is its concession that the state presented no evidence of accomplice liability when it admitted that the identity of “the other person present when the [deceased] was murdered is, like *his role in the murder*, still *unknown* to this day.” Brief of Pet. at 18 n.14. (emphasis added). As the state admitted below, it was “*impossible* for the prosecution, the defense, the trial judge, or th[e] Court [of Appeals] to *know* what precise role the unknown individual was recruited to play or played in the murder because there was neither an eyewitness nor a video of the shooting.” App. 22 (emphasis added). Despite recognizing this impossibility, the state argued, “All that is certain is that both men were present and, inferably, aiding and assisting one another in the commission of the murder.” App. 22. What the state claimed was an inference is actually pure speculation.

The state argued the Court of Appeals acted legally and factually improperly by relying on the jury’s acquittal of Respondent on the weapons charge in light of the jury being informed that the accomplice liability instruction did not apply to the weapons charge. Brief of Pet. at 22. To support this claim, the state made the incongruous argument that the Court’s use of the jury’s verdict to determine if the erroneous jury instruction impacted the verdict was not preserved for

appellate review because Respondent did not “alleged any supposed inconsistency in the verdicts in his Statement of Issues on Appeal” or in his brief, and that South Carolina abolished the rule against inconsistent verdicts in this state. Brief of Pet. at 22.

Not only is the state’s argument on this point bizarre in that the state’s position is that Respondent failed to raise on appeal a legal doctrine that has been abolished, but the issue presented on appeal was *not* that the jury reached inconsistent verdicts. The issue raised on appeal was whether the trial judge erred by instructing the jury on the alternate theory of accomplice liability. The Court of Appeals correctly looked to the entire record to determine if the judge’s error was prejudicial to Respondent, as the Court was required to do. The Court’s examination of the jury’s verdict concerned the “reversible” part of the reversible error analysis. In order to obtain relief, a Respondent must show error and prejudice arising from that error in order for it to be deemed reversible error.

Likewise, the state’s contention that Respondent’s argument that the trial judge erred by submitting an alternate theory of liability to the jury is not properly before this Court on appeal because it was not raised at trial is misleading. Again, Respondent’s issue on appeal is whether the trial judge erred by instructing the jury on accomplice liability. Trial counsel objected to the instruction, and this was the issue raised on appeal. Accomplice liability is an alternate theory of liability. While the state may not like that term, that is the term that has been used by this Court to describe accomplice liability. It is not a separate basis for relief on appeal as the state posits. Rather, it is the same basis for relief as that raised in Respondent’s brief.

II. This Court should deny certiorari to address whether accomplice liability is an alternate theory of liability where the law is clear that accomplice liability is an alternate theory and resolution of this question is not necessary for determining whether the trial judge erred in this case.

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